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Executive Summary



RESOLUTION
VILLAGE OF IRVINGTON

At the meeting of the Board of Trustees of October 7, 2002, Truétee Milano

made a motion, seconded by Trustee Derby, to adopt the following resolution:

RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the Village of Irvington,
New York authorize the submission of an application to the New York
State Office of Parks, Recreation, and Historic Preservation for
designation as a State and Federal historic district, that area of
Irvington bounded by the Hudson River to the West, and Broadway to
the East (to include Saint Barnabus and the Presbyterian Churches),
by the gates of Barney Park to the South, and by the gates of
Matthiessen Park to the North. This boundary being consistent with
the original 1850’s layout of Dearman, later re-named Irvington-On-

Hudson.
Voting (Present):
Mayor Flood Aye
Trustee Derby Aye
Trustee Livingston - Ave
Trustee Milano Aye

I certify that the above resolution is a true and accurate copy of the Minutes
of the meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Irvington.

Lawrence S. Schopfer
Clerk-Treasurer

(seal)



December, 2002

Over the last two years, the Historic District Sub-Committee of the Land Use
Committee has been meeting to explore whether Irvington should consider establishing
a Historic District in the Main Street area. A core group met throughout the process,
while others joined in only a few meetings- the “membership” evolved according to
individual’s time constraints and concerns.

Since that time, many meetings have been held, articles in the Enterprise and Viewpoint
have been published, and flyers have been delivered both by hand and by mail. It was
recommended by many building owners in the proposed District that we conduct a
survey to determine the level of interest in establishing a Historic District in this area.

This group studied the legislation of other municipalities (15 in Westchester alone), and
contacted a number of State and County officials.

A key, but confusing differentiétion must be kept in mind regarding the difference A
between:

1) applying to the State for a Historic District designation, and

2) adopting local legislation to preserve the historic character of the Main Street
area.

The packet herein addresses both issues. The difference between the two is that State
Designation fosters pride and, in certain cases, is a prerequisite for applying for State or
Federal grants, and local legislation can offer protection, depending on level desired by
the Community and Board of Trustees.

Preliminary results of the telephone survey are included; however a double-check of
these results has not been conducted at this time. Responses were received from 168 out
of a possible 227 respondents, or 74%. Briefly, the survey shows:

o A high degree of awareness of the effort to establish a Historic District (Almost
80% were very aware or somewhat aware.)

o 12.8% opposed the establishment of an Historic District

o A clear majority favor preserving the view of the Hudson from Main Street
83%)
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NEW YORK STATE PARKS AND RECREATION

ALBANY, NY (518) 237-8643
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1. NAME OF DISTRICT: MAIN STREET HISTORIC DISTRICT
2. COUNTY: WESTCHESTER

TOWN: GREENBURGH

VILLAGE: IRVINGTON

3. DESCRIPTION: (Also see attached building list.)

“,..The river is important to Main Street, and Main Street is
important to the town. To know the town one must know
Main Street, to understand Main Street, one must understand
the river...”"!

Irvington's Main Street has maintained its small-town-America atmosphere in spite
of the rapid tempo of modern life. Irvington was originally well-known because
America’s first international author, Washington Irving (for whom the town is
named), was a member of the community. After the Civil War, the area was the
favored summer locale -- preceding Newport and Southhampton -- for many of the
most prominent and wealthy NYC families.

The Main Street area offers today a rare example of a compact, former working-
class neighborhood, with rows of small, closely sited houses lining the block-long
streets that radiate north and south from the Main Street spine. The workers who
served the robber baron era families lived in these houses and owned and worked in
the commercial buildings. Most of the buildings were constructed between 1880 and
1930, with the close spacing of residential and commercial structures reflecting the
shopping patterns of that era.’

Main Street in the Village of Irvington runs east to west down a steep hill to the
Hudson River, approximately 25 miles north of New York City. It originates on the

! Wolfert’s Roost , Washington Irving Press. Written by a 1970 graduate of Irvington High School.

2 Sanchis, Frank, Westchester County Architecture.

? It should be noted that the effort to receive designation on the State and National Registers flowed from
the establishment of a local Land Use Committee and the interest of many Village residents. A telephone
survey of each resident of the proposed District has been underway to determine the level of interest and
desirability of adopting some protective local legislation. Results of the survey will be tabulated by the end
of December, 2002.



east at the old Albany Post Road, now called Broadway. Two blocks from the top of
the hill it crosses the Croton Aqueduct, built in the 1840s to carry water to New
York City. Its entire length of 10 blocks is graced with views of the Hudson River.

In the prehistory period, Delaware and Mohican Indians lived along the lower
Hudson River. For these societies, the river was both heartland and highway.
Beginning with Henry Hudson's explorations in 1609, the eastern bank of the
Hudson was settled first by the Dutch and then by the English, with a number of
large manors subsequently being carved out for the gentry. During the 19th-
century's Gilded Age, other large estates were built in Irvington by such as Louis
Comfort Tiffany, Amzi Barber (the "Asphalt King"), John Jacob Astor, I1I, George
Morgan (brother of J.P. Morgan and co-founder of the famous banking house), and
James Hamilton (son of Alexander Hamilton), among others. The Main Street area
provided housing and shopping for the workers serving these country seats. In the
20th century, Irvington became a suburban community, as commuters who earned
their livings in New York City settled among the inhabitants engaged in local
business, families who have lived in the Village for several decades, and service
enterprises.

The Proposed Historic District
The area that was to become Irvington was deeded to Frederick Philipse in 1693 by

the English king as part of the Manor of Philipsburgh. Because Philipse's
descendants remained loyal to the Crown at the American Revolution, the land was
confiscated, and many tenant farmers who had sided with the Americans in the war
took ownership of the lands they previously had leased from Philipse. In 1812,
Justus Dearman bought land from William Dutcher, one of these farmers. Dearman
sold this estate in 1849 to Franklin Field, who promptly "had the old farm surveyed
- and laid out into streets and 266 building lots."® It is this land that defines the
boundaries of the Historic District proposed for listing on the New York State and
National Registers; however, three historic structures that are contiguous to the
original Dearman farm have been include in the proposed district: St. Barnabas
(1853) the Presbyterian Church (1869) and the Bridge Street industrial complex,
part of the Lord and Burnham factory complex which lies on the other side of the
Railroad between Matthiessen Park and Scenic Hudson Park.

The Main Street Historic District lies in the center of the Village of Irvington, in the
Town of Greenburgh, County of Westchester, New York. Its boundaries are as
follows: on the west, the shores of the Hudson River; on the east, the roadway
known as Broadway (New York State Route 9); and on the north and south sides,
the respective extremities of the block-long cross streets that emanate from
Irvington’s Main Street (the central thoroughfare of the Village and of the District)
and which in general extend one block in length and terminate in distinctively
separate residential neighborhoods (Barney Park to the south and Matthiessen Park
to the north).

The boundaries of the proposed District have also been determined with
consideration to the extent of its principal features — residential and commercial, as

35, Map: See attached 1848 map showing boundaries.
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